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DECISION


We find that Destination St. Louis, Inc. (“DSL”) has not violated §§ 390.051
 or 390.171 because it is not a common carrier and is not holding itself out as such.

Procedure


On July 1, 2003, TransExpress Transportation, Inc. (“TransExpress”) filed a complaint.  TransExpress states that it is “an authorized common carrier of passengers and their baggage  . . . to and from Lambert St. Louis International Airport on one hand, and all points and places in 

St. Louis City and St. Louis County, on the other.”  TransExpress alleges that it is the only authorized concessionaire for passenger shuttle services from the airport to the hotels in St. Louis City and County, and that DSL is transporting passengers and goods in this area without authorization or is holding itself out as doing so.


On November 7, 2003, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Donald C. Otto, Jr., represented TransExpress.  Eric M. Trelz, with Polsinelli, Shalton & Welte, represented DSL.

Findings of Fact

1. TransExpress is an authorized common carrier of passengers and their baggage with authority for charter and non-charter service in intrastate Missouri travel, including non-charter service to carry passengers and their baggage to and from Lambert St. Louis International Airport on one hand, and all points and places in St. Louis City and St. Louis County, on the other.

2. DSL is a Missouri corporation.  Julie Greenspoon-Kelly is the sole stockholder in the company.

3. Kelly has been operating DSL since January 1990.  The company has seven full-time employees and hires part-time employees as needed.

4. The St. Louis Convention and Visitor’s Commission sends DSL a list of all groups that are coming to St. Louis so that DSL can contact the groups.

5. Groups hire DSL to provide services that can include arranging for lodging, dining, entertainment and transportation.

6. If the group requests transportation services, DSL arranges for transportation via a taxi cab or motor coaches.

7. The group determines the time, date, and location of travel and specifies the mode of transportation.  The groups have exclusive use of the vehicles for the same purpose.

8. DSL contracts with entities certified as common carriers, such as Vandalia Bus Lines, to provide transportation services to DSL’s clients.  DSL pays an hourly charge for using the vehicle without regard to the number of passengers that are planned to be in the vehicle.

9. A contract with Vandalia Bus Lines, which is a standard contract that DSL uses with common carriers, provides:

It is understood and agreed that the performance of the service detailed in this order is subject to tariff regulations and is contingent upon the carrier’s ability to furnish the equipment and perform the service. . . .  Any vehicle damage caused by the Charter Party will be charged by the carrier to the Charter Party. . . .

10. The vehicle drivers are not DSL employees.  DSL employees determine the route and direct the vehicles to places.  DSL can request that a particular driver not be used, but the driver’s employer is under no obligation to honor that request.

11. DSL determines the size and number of vehicles that are needed for the size of the group.

12. No carrier is under any obligation to contract with DSL.

13. DSL is listed in the St. Louis Membership Services Directory 2003 (“Directory”).
  Its advertisement states:

Destination St. Louis

Your Destination.  Our Home.

· Tours and day trips

· Elegant evening events

· Special event planning

· Custom themed decor

· Shuttle systems

· Meet & greet services

14. The description in the Directory states that DSL offers:

Full-service convention services and destination management providing large and small shuttle systems, creative tour and spouse programs, award-winning theme parties, airport meet and greet, and ground transportation.  Full-service coordination for groups 

from 2-25,000.  St. Louis member company of the Contact Group.  Founded in 1990.

15. DSL has a web site that features pictures under “transportation” of vehicles.  Some of these vehicles show the name of another company on the side, and some do not.  None of the pictures identifies the vehicle as belonging to DSL.

16. Destination management companies or transportation brokers are not specifically licensed as such in Missouri.  DSL has a business license.

17. In 2002 and 2003, DSL was contacted by the PartyLite organization to arrange its conference in St. Louis.

18. PartyLite asked DSL to provide shuttle transportation for approximately 10,000 conference attendees between the convention center and the hotels.

19. For the 2002 PartyLite conference, DSL charged a separate, individual price for transportation, selling the tickets both in advance and at the airport.

20. An employee of TransExpress informed DSL that it could not sell individual tickets at the airport.  DSL confirmed this with the airport office and stopped this practice.

21. For the 2003 PartyLite conference, DSL charged an individual price for transportation, selling the tickets in advance, but not at the airport.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.  Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2003.  TransExpress brings its complaint under § 622.320, which provides:


1.  Complaints may be made by the division of its own motion, or by any corporation or person, chamber of commerce, board of trade, or any civic, commercial, mercantile, traffic, agricultural or manufacturing association or organization, or any body politic or municipal corporation, by petition or complaint in writing, setting forth any act or thing done or omitted to be done by any carrier, corporation or person, including any rule, regulation or charge established or fixed by or for any carrier, corporation or 

person in violation, or claimed to be in violation, of any provision of law, or of any rule or order or decision of the division.


2.  All matters upon which complaint may be founded may be joined in one hearing, and no motion shall be entertained against a complaint for misjoinder of causes of action or grievances or misjoinder or nonjoinder of parties, and in any review by the courts or orders or decisions of the division the same rule shall apply with regard to the joinder of causes and parties as provided in this section.


3.  The division shall not be required to dismiss any complaint because of the absence of direct damage to the complainant.  Upon the filing of a complaint, the division shall cause a copy thereof to be served upon the carrier, corporation or person which is the subject of the complaint.

Prior to August 28, 2002, the hearings available to a private party making allegations against another private party under § 622.320 were conducted by the former division’s administrative law judge.  That power and duty was transferred to this Commission.  Section 226.008, RSMo Supp. 2003.

I.  Motion to Dismiss/Burden of Proof


On November 7, 2003, DSL filed a written motion to dismiss at the close of Petitioner’s evidence because TransExpress failed to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt.  DSL also made this motion at the end of the hearing.  We denied the motion.
  


DSL argues that the burden of proof should be proof beyond a reasonable doubt because the statutes authorize criminal penalties for violation.  Section 390.171 provides:

Every owner, officer, agent or employee of any motor carrier, and every other person, who violates or fails to comply with or who procures, aids or abets in the violation of any provision of this chapter, or who fails to obey, observe or comply with any order, decision, rule or regulation, direction, demand or requirement of the division, or who procures, aids or abets any person in his failure to obey, observe or comply with any such order, decision, 

rule, direction, demand or regulation thereof is guilty of a misdemeanor[;]

and § 390.176 provides:


1.  Any person operating as a motor carrier who violates or fails to comply with any provision of the Constitution of this state or of this or any other law, or which fails, omits or neglects to obey, observe or comply with any order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand or requirement, or any part or provision thereof, of the division is subject to a penalty of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense.


2.  Every violation of the provisions of this or any other law or of any order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand or requirement of the division, or any part or portion thereof, by any person operating as a motor carrier is a separate and distinct offense, and in case of continuing violation each day’s continuance thereof shall be and be deemed to be a separate and distinct offense.


3.  In construing and enforcing the provisions of this chapter relating to penalties, the act, omission or failure of any officer, agent or employee of any person operating as a motor carrier acting within the scope of his official duties of employment, shall in every case be and be deemed to be the act, omission or failure of such person.


This is an administrative proceeding.  Recent cases have determined that even if the administrative action has an association with a criminal statute, the burden of proof is a preponderance of the evidence.  Grace v. Director of Revenue, 77 S.W.3d 29, 32 (Mo. App., E.D. 2002); State Bd. of Nursing v. Berry, 32 S.W.3d 638, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2000).  See also Cain v. Director of Revenue, 130 S.W.3d 1 (Mo. App., S.D. 2004) (burden of proof is a preponderance of the evidence in a proceeding to determine whether to stay a rescission of driving privileges based on refusal to submit to chemical testing).


The Court in Berry stated:

The burden of proof in a civil case is different from the burden of proof in a criminal case because the purpose of each proceeding is different.  Unlike a criminal case where the state charges an 

individual with a criminal violation, the proof of which jeopardizes life or liberty, the licensing process and the ability to discipline a nurse’s license to practice in the nursing profession is an administrative mechanism delegated by the General Assembly to the Board to protect the health and welfare of the state’s citizens.

Berry, 32 S.W.3d at 642.


We find that TransExpress must prove its case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Preponderance of the evidence is defined as:

that degree of evidence that “is of greater weight or more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it; that is, evidence which as a whole shows the fact to be proved to be more probable than not.”

Id.  (Citation omitted.)

II.  Violation of Statute

a.  Business of a Common Carrier


TransExpress argues that DSL violated § 390.051, which states:


1.  Except as otherwise provided in section 390.030, no person shall engage in the business of a common carrier in intrastate commerce on any public highway in this state unless there is in force with respect to such carrier a certificate issued by the division authorizing such operations.

Section 390.020 defines a common carrier as follows:

(6) “Common carrier”, any person which holds itself out to the general public to engage in the transportation by motor vehicle of passengers or property for hire or compensation upon the public highways and airlines engaged in intrastate commerce[.]


DSL does not argue that the exemption in § 390.030, as referenced above in § 390.051, applies to it.  Instead, it argues that it does not fall within the statutory definition of common carrier.  DSL states that it is a destination management company and that this is a common term in the industry.  The parties cite no law on the issue.  While we do not find guidance relating to 

this term, we do find law and cases concerning another term that could be used to describe DSL’s activities – passenger or transportation broker.  The cases and laws of other states differentiate between transportation or passenger brokers and common carriers.


In the past, the common carrier industry was regulated by the federal government.  Federal law differentiated between the common carrier who provides the transportation and the broker who arranges for the transportation.  49 U.S.C. § 311(a) set forth the requirement for a broker’s license:

(a) No person shall for compensation sell or offer for sale transportation subject to this chapter or shall make any contract, agreement, or arrangement to provide, procure, furnish, or arrange for such transportation or shall hold himself or itself out by advertisement, solicitation, or otherwise as one who sells, provides, procures, contracts, or arranges for such transportation, unless such person holds a broker’s license issued by the Commission to engage in such transactions:  Provided, however, that no such person shall engage in transportation subject to this chapter  unless he holds a certificate or permit as provided in this chapter.  In the execution of any contract, agreement, or arrangement to sell, provide, procure, furnish or arrange for such transportation, it shall be unlawful for such person to employ any carrier by motor vehicle who or which is not the lawful holder of an effective certificate or permit issued as provided in this chapter[.]

The federal law also set forth requirements for common carriers in 49 U.S.C. § 306:

(a)(1) Except as otherwise provided in this section and in section 310a of this title, no common carrier by motor vehicle subject to the provisions of this chapter shall engage in any interstate or foreign operations on any public highway, or within any reservation under the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States, unless there is in force with respect to such carrier a certificate of public convenience and necessity issued by the Commission authorizing such operations[.]


Federal case law also makes this distinction.  In National Bus Traffic Ass’n v. United States, 143 F. Supp. 689 (U.S.D. N.J. 1956), the court held that a broker offering travel tours could contract for transportation with a licensed carrier.  See also Travel & Tour Service v. United States, 302 F. Supp. 188 (E.D. Wis. 1969).  


Federal courts were required to determine whether an entity met the definition of a common carrier.  The court in Las Vegas Hacienda v. Civil Aeronautics Board, 298 F.2d 430 (9th Cir. 1962) affirmed a determination that a resort hotel selling package tours that included free airplane rides was acting as a common carrier for compensation or hire.  The court looked at such factors as:  (1) the flights were regularly scheduled; (2) the flights were conducted in Hacienda planes, marked with its name and operated by uniformed Hacienda employees; (3) passengers went to regular commercial airports and received usual terminal services such as check-in and boarding passes; and (4) the flights were advertised to the public in ads that described the aircraft used and the set flight schedule.  Id. at 434-35.


Some states have continued to statutorily define common carriers and brokers as separate entities with separate licensing requirements.  For example, Massachusetts sets forth the requirements for a broker’s license and states that the broker must arrange transportation with a motor carrier who is certified to offer the transportation service.  Mass. Gen. L. ch. 159B § 5 states:

(a) No person shall for compensation sell or offer for sale transportation subject to this chapter, and no person shall make any contract, agreement or arrangement to provide, procure, furnish or arrange for such transportation or hold himself out by advertisement, solicitation or otherwise as one who sells, provides, procures, contracts or arranges for such transportation, unless such person holds a broker’s license issued by the department authorizing him to engage in such transactions; provided, that no such person shall engage in transportation subject to this chapter unless he holds a certificate or permit as provided therein.  In the 

execution of any contract, agreement or arrangement to sell, provide, procure, furnish or arrange for such transportation, no broker shall employ any motor carrier who is not the holder of a certificate or permit under which he may lawfully undertake the transportation in question. . . .

Under Massachusetts law, the transportation broker must be licensed, but is not considered a common carrier and does not have to be licensed as such.  See also Ind. Code ch. 22 § 1.  Texas defines a transportation broker as follows:

In this chapter, “motor transportation broker” means a person who:

(1) sells, offers for sale, provides, or negotiates for the transportation of cargo by a motor carrier operated by another person; or

(2) aids or abets a person in performing an act described by Subdivision (1).

Texas Trans. Code § 646.001.


In Iron Horse Stage Lines v. Public Utility Comm’n of Oregon, 866 P.2d 516 (Or. App. 1994), the court made a distinction between carriers and brokers, finding that prohibitions directed at a carrier did not apply to a broker.  In Commercial Truck Brokers v. Mann, 379 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1980), the court found that there was a different standard for granting a transportation brokerage license than for granting a motor carrier certificate.


In Waddington v. Pennsylvania Public Utility Comm’n, 670 A.2d 199 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1995), the court found that Waddington, a common carrier, was acting as an unlicensed broker.  Waddington argued that she was acting as an agent of a properly licensed common carrier and was thus not required to have a broker’s license.  The court affirmed the administrative law judge’s opinion, stating:

The ALJ found that Waddington’s activities included advertising tours and arranging transportation, meals, admission tickets and lodging for points originating outside the scope of her certificate 

going to points in Pennsylvania and returning to points outside her certificated areas.  Moreover, the ALJ noted that all of Waddington’s advertisements promoted Waddington Tours and emphasized that if Waddington was in fact Fullington’s agent, then her advertisements should have promoted Fullington, not Waddington.  Based on our review of the record, we conclude that substantial evidence supports the ALJ's determination that Waddington arranged and performed transportation services without the requisite broker’s license.

Id. at 202-03.  This case and all of the definitions of brokers look remarkably like what DSL is doing for its clients.


Missouri does not require that transportation or passenger brokers be licensed.  Missouri case law involving “brokers” deals mainly with real estate and stock brokers.  However, the courts acknowledge that there may be other types of brokers.  In Crabb v. Mid-American Dairymen, Inc., 735 S.W.2d 714 (Mo. banc 1987), the parties entered into a contract under which a broker would, for compensation, “bring together” a cheese producer and a pizza chain.  The court found that the language of the alleged oral contract was not too vague, indefinite or uncertain.  The court stated: 

The phrase “brought together,” is a clear and concise description of the kind of services brokers and sales agents customarily render to their clients.

Id. at 715.  In the same way, DSL argues that it brings together its clients and the common carriers who will transport the clients.


In New Prime, Inc. v. Profess’l Logistics Mgmt. Co., 28 S.W.3d 898 (Mo. App., S.D. 2000), a motor carrier of general commodities sued a motor carrier broker of property.  The issue was not whether the broker was required to be a common carrier, but whether the broker was liable to the common carrier when the shipper went bankrupt.  However, it is another instance in which the courts differentiate between the broker and the carrier.


In the case before us, DSL owns no vehicles or transportation equipment.  TransExpress cites Southern Advance Bag & Paper Co. v. Terminal Ry. Ass’n of St. Louis, 171 S.W.2d 107 (Mo. App., St.L.D. 1943) for the proposition that an entity may be a common carrier “if the service it renders is that of a common carrier furnishing a necessary link in the transportation under a through bill of lading.”  Id. at 114.  This case involved common law liability for failure to deliver a shipment.  The issue was whether a terminal station, by handling freight, was a common carrier.  The court found that it was not.  The statement that TransExpress relies upon was a statement made during the rehearing phase, which affirmed the original decision.  DSL argues that this is dicta.  Even if it is not, the court is merely saying that the lack of “rolling stock” (equipment) does not preclude an entity from being considered a common carrier in determining common law carrier liability.  The case involved a terminal station that linked the transportation of goods, not an entity that arranged transportation for passengers.


We look to a more recent case discussed above in which the court determined whether an entity should be considered a common carrier.  The court considered whether the airplane flights were conducted in the resort hotel’s planes, marked with its name and operated by its uniformed employees.  Las Vegas Hacienda, 298 F.2d 430.  We find that, whether or not it is dispositive, we can consider equipment ownership as one factor in our determination of whether DSL is acting as a common carrier.


DSL argues that it could not be a common carrier because it could not meet the requirements to obtain a certificate as a common carrier.  Section 390.051 sets forth the application process for obtaining a certificate:


2.  Application for a certificate shall be made in writing to the division and shall contain such information as the division shall, by rule, require and shall include:


(1) Full information concerning the ownership, financial condition of applicant, equipment to be used and a statement listing the physical equipment of applicant and the reasonable value thereof;


(2) The complete route or routes over which the applicant desires to operate, or territory to be served;


(3) The proposed rates, schedule or schedules, or timetable of the applicant.


3.  Except as provided for in subsection 4 of this section, if the division finds that an applicant seeking to transport . . . passengers  in charter service is fit, willing and able to properly perform the service proposed and conform to the provisions of this chapter and the requirements, rules and regulations of the division established thereunder, a certificate therefor shall be issued.


4.  If the division finds that an applicant seeking to transport:

*   *   *


(5) Passengers other than in charter service;

*   *   *

is fit, willing and able to properly perform the service proposed, and to conform to the provisions of this chapter and the requirements, rules and regulations of the division, and that the service proposed will serve a useful present or future public purpose, a certificate therefor specifying the service authorized shall be issued, unless the division finds on the basis of evidence presented by persons objecting to the issuance of a certificate that the transportation to be authorized by the certificate will be inconsistent with the public convenience and necessity.

DSL argues that it could not provide the information the statute requires.  It has no equipment to transport passengers and has no proposed routes, rates or schedules.  The routes are not established until DSL contracts with clients who need transportation, and then DSL contracts with the carriers to provide it.  DSL argues that without any vehicles, it cannot be fit, willing and able to perform as a common carrier – to transport passengers.


Kelly testified:

Destination management is a real -- it’s a middleman company.  We own nothing.  We arrange services for groups that come to 

St. Louis.  And as an industry term in the hospitality industry, there are destination management companies in every city.  And we’re experts in our city, and we put together the pieces of whatever the group actually needs, whether it’s tours and transportation or tour guides or speakers or meals or airport meet and greet.  We arrange the pieces.  So we physically don’t own anything.  I don’t own a banquet center.  I don’t own any restaurants.  I don’t own any equipment.  I own some computers.

We agree with DSL.  It is not seeking to transport passengers, and the Department could never find that it is fit, willing and able to do so.  Therefore, DSL could never receive a certificate to act as a common carrier in Missouri.  The legislature could not have intended to define an entity such as DSL as a common carrier and also enact a statute that would make it impossible for it to be licensed as such.  


While DSL’s employees direct the destination of the carrier, the person driving the vehicle is always an employee of the carrier.  DSL transports no one.  At most, it acts more like a tour guide or tour agency, contracting with and directing the actual common carrier for the benefit of DSL’s clients.  Like the broker described in Crabb, DSL brings together its clients and the common carriers who will transport the clients.

b.  Holding Out as Common Carrier


We also find that DSL is not holding itself out as a common carrier.  The court in State ex rel. Public Service Comm’n v. Logan, 411 S.W.2d 86 (Mo. 1967) discussed “holding out” as it applied to a common carrier:

“It is well established that a ‘holding out’ may be accomplished by advertisement or solicitation through agents, but these tests are neither determinative nor exclusive.  A ‘holding out’ may result 

from a course of business or conduct.  A definition of the term ‘holding out’ appears in Northeastern Lines, Inc., Common Carrier Application, 11 M.C.C. 179 (1939):

“‘Question arises as to the meaning of the words “holds itself out,” as applied to a common carrier.  They clearly imply, we believe, that the carrier in some way makes known to its prospective patrons the fact that its services are available.  This may be done in various ways, as by advertising, solicitation, or the establishment in a community of a known place of business where requests for service will be received.  However the result may be accomplished, the essential thing is that there shall be a public offering of the service, or in other words, a communication of the fact that service is available to those who may wish to use it.’”
Id. at 88-89 (quoting Vincent v. United States, 58 A.2d 829 (D.C. App. 1948)).  The court also stated:

“If the carrier carries goods as a public employment, undertaking to carry goods for persons generally, and holds himself out to the public as ready to engage in that business as a business, and not as a casual occupation, he comes within the definition of a common carrier.”

Logan, 411 S.W.2d at 89 (quoting State ex rel. Anderson v. Witthaus, 102 S.W.2d 99, 102 (Mo. 1937)).


DSL advertises that it performs a service.  This is obviously a “holding out” to the public.  However, the service it advertises is arranging tours, events and transportation.  DSL lists itself as a destination manager and, like travel agents or tour guides, those who seek its services expect that transportation services will or may be arranged by contracting with another entity.  Kelly testified as follows:

Q:  And likewise, on Exhibit 4, which is the blurb in the CVC and the ad, it doesn’t indicate anything there that what Destination St. Louis does is you go out and hire somebody else?

A:  Well, in the industry, destination management companies don’t own their own equipment.  So this booklet goes out to a pretty sophisticated group.  These go to meeting planners and convention planners.  So because it says I’m a destination management company, that is understood that I don’t own my own equipment, I don’t own my own restaurants, I don’t own my own speakers.  So that’s -- I mean, I don’t own anything.


We find that DSL was contracting with common carriers, not holding itself out as one.  DSL was acting as and holding itself out as a passenger broker, which does not require licensure in Missouri or at the federal level.

c.  Selling Individual Tickets


We reach TransExpress’ last point, that DSL was acting in violation of the law when it sold individual tickets for transportation on two occasions.  DSL argues that this was not alleged in the complaint and that we cannot address it as a potential violation.  DSL cites no law requiring notice in this type of case, but we analogize it to our licensing cases.  The Missouri Court of Appeals has described the required degree of specificity for a professional licensing board’s factual allegations:

The specificity of charges could be at essentially three levels.  The most general is simply a statement that the accused has violated one or more of the statutory grounds for discipline without further elaboration, i.e., he has been grossly negligent.  Such an allegation is insufficient to allow preparation of a viable defense.  The second level involves a greater specificity in setting forth the course of conduct deemed to establish the statutory ground for discipline.  The third level involves a degree of specificity setting forth each specific individual act or omission comprising the course of conduct.  Due process requires no more than compliance with the second level.

Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof’l Eng’rs and Land Surv’rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 539 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988) (citations omitted).  TransExpress’ complaint accuses DSL of charging per person for transportation services even though it does not reference the PartyLite convention.  We find that DSL was on sufficient notice to defend itself against this charge.


TransExpress argues that DSL leased vehicles on a daily rate from a company that held charter service authority in violation of § 390.020(3), which defines charter service:

(3) “Charter service”, the transportation of a group of persons who, pursuant to a common purpose and at a fixed charge for the vehicle, have acquired the exclusive use of a passenger-carrying motor vehicle to travel together as a group from a point of origin to a specified destination or for a particular itinerary, either agreed upon in advance or modified by the chartering group after having left the place of origin[.]

(Second emphasis added.)


Kelly admits that St. Louis airport personnel told her that she was breaking a law by selling individual tickets for transportation at the airport.  TransExpress cites no such law against this or any authority that we have to enforce it.  The allegation before us is that DSL violated §§ 390.051 or 390.171.  Even if DSL improperly set an individual fee outside the definition of a charter service, this act does not turn DSL into a common carrier.  DSL is still a broker that may or may not have violated some law or regulation prohibiting this act.  The law or regulation has not been cited to us.


TransExpress argues that “if DSL is allowed to avoid Section 390.020(3) in this manner, the entire statutory scheme that requires a carrier to get non-charter certificates and the examination process involved with that would be rendered meaningless.”
  In National Bus Traffic Ass’n, 143 F. Supp. 689, the court rejected an argument that a broker (Tauck) could only employ carriers who were licensed to sell individual tickets.  The court stated:

The arguments of the plaintiffs, while appealing, necessarily possess an abstract quality under the instant circumstances for Tauck is not participating in a fictitious or sham device to grant “charter” operators, as defined by the Act, broader transportation authority than their present certificates allow them.  Tauck has its own valid business reasons, which have nothing to do with 

extending the authority of charter operators, for having sought the extended certification granted it by the Commission.  Tauck is an independent entrepreneur, supplying a useful service which it has developed for itself. . . .  It must be borne in mind also that there is no express provision in the Motor Carrier Act, and nothing in its legislative history, to indicate that all-expense tour operators such as Tauck were to be prohibited from carrying on their established practices of chartering buses.  And we also note that no question about tour operators’ use of chartered buses was raised for thirteen years after the Motor Carrier Act became effective – indeed, we believe, not until the inception of the instant proceeding.  These are cogent considerations.

Id. at 696.


We find that TransExpress has failed to show that DSL should be considered a common carrier or that DSL violated any law with respect to which we have jurisdiction by selling individual tickets for transportation.

Summary


DSL has not violated §§ 390.051 or 390.171 because it is not a common carrier and is not holding itself out as such.


SO ORDERED on August 20, 2004.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.


	�Resp. Ex. A.





	�Pt’r Ex. 4.


	�Tr. at 79-81.


	�There are also cases that discuss common carriers and travel agents as separate entities.  Connolly v. Samuelson, 671 F. Supp. 1312, 1316 (D. Kansas 1987) (“The court is not persuaded that travel agents such as defendants are common carriers.”); Markland v. Travel Travel Southfield, Inc. 810 S.W.2d 81 (Mo. App., E.D. 1991) (travel agents and common carriers are independent contractors with regard to each other).


	�Tr. at 32.


	�Tr. at 23.
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